## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLARENCE BENNETT, JR

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2006-KA-0054-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Clarence Bennett, Jr., Appellant
- 3. Honorable Laurence Y. Mellen, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Kenneth L. Thomas, Circuit Court Judge

This the gt day of El , 2010

Respectfully Submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE
STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT5
ARGUMENT5
ISSUE:
CONCLUSION9
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## STATE CASES

Amiker v. Drugs for Less, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000)
Anderson v. State, 571 So.2d 961, 963 (Miss. 1990)
Dilworth v. State, 909 So. 2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2005)
Edwards v. State, 800 So.2d 454, 464 (Miss. 2001)
King v. State, 798 So.2d 1258, 1261 (Miss. 2001)
McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993)
Parker v. State, 401 So.2d 1282, 1286 (Miss. 1981)
Ramsey v. State, 959 So.2d 15 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Tentoni v. Slayton, 968 So.2d 431, 441 (Miss. 2007)
Thomas v. State, 92 So. 225, 226 (Miss. 1922)
Wong v. The Mississippi Bar, 5 So.3d 369, 371 (Miss. 2008)
STATE STATUTES
Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-37-2
Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-37-5
Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Annotated § 99-35-101

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

V. NO. 2006-KA-0054-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

# WHETHER THE GUILTY VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

## **STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION**

Clarence Bennett, the Appellant in this case is currently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Annotated § 99-35-101.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Mississippi and a judgment

of conviction on one count of aggravated assault and one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon against Clarence Bennett, following a trial on November 14-17, 2005, the Honorable Kenneth Thomas, Circuit Judge, presiding. Bennett was subsequently sentenced to serve a seventeen year sentence for the aggravated assault charge and three years for the possession of a firearm by a convicted felon charge, with the sentences to run concurrently, pursuant to **Mississippi Code**Annotated § 97-37-2 and Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-37-5.

## **FACTS**

On April 6, 2005, Clarence Bennett (Bennett) and his neighbors, Myron Hall (Hall) and Tonya Lewis (Lewis), disputed over the parking of Bennett's truck. Lewis testified that Bennett regularly harassed her when she complained about how he had his truck parked. (T. 63). On the day in question, Bennett was complaining about how Lewis was responsible for having his truck towed and that he began to "steadily approach" her until Hall stopped him and chased him back into his apartment. (T. 63, 80-81). At that point, Lewis called the police.(T. 64).

When police arrived, they were let into Bennett's apartment where they began to question him. Officers believed him to be under the influence of alcohol. (T. 107). Bennett was agitated and claimed that the people who lived a couple apartments down from him called the landlord on him because he had a broken down truck in the parking lot. Bennett claimed that, if not for those individuals, his truck would not have been towed. (T. 107). During his conversation with the police, Bennett repeatedly shouted at people who were standing around outside of his apartment. The officers asked him to stop but he would not. (T. 107-8). At that point, Bennett was placed under arrest for disorderly conduct and then taken to the police station for booking. (T. 108). According to officer's testimony, while on the way to the station, Bennett made several threatening statements

about how he needed to "just go get a gun and shoot their ass" and also acted like he was cocking a pistol. (T. 114).

When Hall and Davis returned to their apartment, Bennett was standing in the doorway of his apartment. (T. 64). Davis went into their apartment with one of her children, and Hall remained outside. Hall and Bennett began to talk loudly, and Bennett pulled out a gun. (T. 82-3, 97). Hall began to run into his apartment when Bennett shot at him three or four times. (T. 83). Hall then opened the door to his apartment and went inside (T. 83, 97). Hall was not carrying a weapon at this point or during the earlier incident. (T. 84).

Bennett's story of the situation, however, differed significantly. According to Bennett, that afternoon, he left his apartment to put some trash in the dumpster. When he exited the apartment, he walked past Hall, and Hall told Bennett that he needed to "junk that old piece of junk," in reference to Bennett's truck. Bennett told Hall to leave him alone and said that Hall's time would be better spent teaching his girlfriend, Lewis, how to drive. (T. 129). At that point, Hall began to approach Bennett with a pocket knife, using threatening language. (T. 130). Bennett returned to his apartment and closed the door while Hall remained outside, where he kicked the door and Bennett's truck. (T. 130).

Five or ten minutes later, Officers Steven Haywood and Rhett Nelson of the Cleveland Police Department arrived at Bennett's apartment. (T. 132). The police officers entered the apartment and informed Bennett that they had received a call regarding a disturbance at the apartment complex. Bennett told them his side of the story and was arrested by Officer Nelson for disorderly conduct. (T. 132-33). Bennett was taken in handcuffs to the Cleveland Police Department where he was booked for disorderly conduct. (T. 133-34). Bennett made bond the same day and the bondsman took him back to his apartment. (T. 134). Bennett ran several errands and then returned to his apartment.

(T. 134-35).

When Bennett returned to his apartment, he saw Hall and a little girl playing outside. (T. 135). Bennett got his gun out of the glove compartment of his vehicle and put it behind his back. (T. 135) Bennett then backed up behind his car so that he could keep an eye on Hall because Hall was approaching him again. (T. 136) Bennett walked towards the door of his apartment and Hall began to run towards him while brandishing a knife in a menacing manner (T. 136-37). At this point, Bennett asked Hall to leave him alone because he did not want to return to jail. Hall continued to approach Bennett menacingly, using profanity and brandishing a knife. (T. 137-38). Bennett tried to open the door to his apartment with his hands behind his back while watching Hall, who continued to approach him. (T. 138).

When Hall got close to Bennett, he lept at him and Bennett pulled out his pistol and shot at Hall one time. (T. 138-40). When Bennett fired, Hall made a twisting motion that was "like a ballerina bow." (T. 140-41). Bennett fired again and Hall began to shake as if he was in pain. (T. 141). Bennett continued to point his gun as Hall returned to his apartment. When Hall had made it most of the way back to his apartment, Bennett returned to his apartment. Approximately ten to fifteen minutes later, the police arrived at Bennett's apartment and arrested him. (T. 142-43)..

After deliberation, the Jury returned verdicts of guilty of aggravated assault and being a felon in possession of a firearm against the Appellant. (C.P. 31-33, R.E. 7-9). During sentencing, Bennett's story changed regarding the incident, and he insisted that he did not shoot Hall, but, rather, another man. (T. 226). Regardless, the Appellant was subsequently sentenced to 12 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections for the aggravated assault conviction, and three years for the felon in possession of a firearm charge, those sentences to run concurrently. (C.P. 49-50, R.E. 16-17).

On December 9, 2005, Bennett filed a Motion for J.N.O.V. or in the Alternative for New Trial (C.P. 35, R.E. 10). On December 9, 2005, the motion was denied. (C.P. 37, R.E. 12). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, Bennett filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 38, R.E. 12).

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury's verdict of guilt for aggravated assault was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Bennett's actions clearly fall under the long-recognized self-defense defense to aggravated assault. The proper relief is reversal and remand for a new trial.

## **ARGUMENT**

## **ISSUE:**

## WHETHER THE GUILTY VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE. SELF-DEFENSE.

## i. Standard of Review

<sup>1.</sup> It is important to note, trial counsel was subject of a bar complaint, and ultimately, a sixmonth suspension by the Mississippi Bar for, at least in part, his inaction in the instant case. See, Wong v. The Mississippi Bar, 5 So.3d 369, 371 (Miss. 2008). In the instant case, trial counsel insisted that he was unable to find a viable issue on appeal. Id. Trial counsel, however, was unable to remember whether he informed Bennett that he was not going to file a brief on his behalf. Id. Thus, Bennett's appeal was ultimately dismissed. Bennett's appeal was ultimately reinstated, however. Mississippi appellate courts will only address an issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal if the parties stipulate counsel was ineffective, or the record is clear that counsel's performance was so deficient as to raise constitutional concerns. Ramsey v. State, 959 So.2d 15 (¶¶ 30-31) (Miss. Ct. App.2006) (citing Read v. State, 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss, 1983)). However, it should be noted that the failure of the record to clearly indicate deficient performance could, at least in part, be a result of trial counsel's inefficient performance. Accordingly, Bennett requests that any issues regarding trial counsel's ineffective assistance of counsel be preserved for post-conviction relief or otherwise appropriate proceedings. It should also be noted that, because of the length of delay between trial and appeal, certain exhibits were not made available.

The standard of review for denial of a motion for a new trial is abuse of discretion. *Tentoni* v. *Slayton*, 968 So.2d 431, 441 (Miss. 2007). A motion for a new trial challenges the weight of the evidence presented at trial. *Edwards v. State*, 800 So.2d 454, 464 (Miss. 2001). The appellate court will disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the weight of the evidence that allowing the verdict to stand would be an unconscionable injustice. *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 781 (Miss. 1993). When the court hears a motion for new trial, it sits as the hypothetical thirteenth juror. The motion is addressed to the court's discretion which should be exercised with caution. The power to grant a new trial should only be granted when the evidence weighs heavily against the verdict. *Amiker v. Drugs for Less*, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000). The appellate court should weigh the evidence in the light most favorable to the trial verdict. *King v. State*, 798 So.2d 1258, 1261 (Miss. 2001).

Though it is rare that an appellate court would overturn the verdict of a circuit court jury, such circumstances do exist. The *Thomas* court stated:

in exceedingly rare cases where, from the whole circumstances, the testimony is contradictory and unreasonable, and so highly improbable that the truth of it becomes so extremely doubtful that it is repulsive to the reasoning of the ordinary mind. In such a case we think it proper to award a new trial on the facts, and let another jury have an opportunity to weigh and judge the testimony at another time, and under different circumstances, when the mistake of the first jury may be corrected, if a mistake has been made, and justice in the case, which the state desires as well as the accused, can be duly awarded.

Thomas v. State, 92 So. 225, 226 (Miss. 1922).

While the standard for granting a motion for new trial is high, an appellate court will use its authority to order a new trial when it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on weak evidence, even if that evidence is enough to withstand a motion for a directed verdict.

Dilworth v. State, 909 So. 2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2005).

## ii. The overwhelming weight of the evidence shows that the Appellant did not commit aggravated assault.

The verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. While this honorable Court may find that the testimony was enough to allow the jury to infer that an aggravated assault was committed, it is not the case that simply because the jury <u>could</u> make such an inference. The Appellant respectfully contends that any inference made by the jury in the case *sub judice* was not reasonable and was the product of mere speculation, conjecture, or guesswork. Looking at the circumstances surrounding the shooting, it is clear that the jury's determination or inference of the nature of the shooting was tenuous at best.

First, there were no witnesses without a stake in the outcome of the trial who could definitively say what happened. The only other witness who testified about her knowledge of the shooting was Bobby Riley. It is clear from the testimony given by Bobby Riley that she simply heard an argument. Riley was unable to see anything from her position inside of her apartment, she even testified that she "didn't see the guy who shot Myron." (T. 96) Riley also testified that she was unable to have a clear view of Hall. Her testimony was also significantly different from the statement that she gave to the police at the scene. Riley is the only "witness" that the state presented who could possibly have an unbiased version of the facts of the case but she was not a witness to the actual shooting.

Second, there is ample evidence from the record to show that there were earlier confrontations between Bennett and Hall that support Bennett's testimony that he was seeking to defend himself against Hall, rather than acting aggressively when he shot him. Tonya Lewis, Hall's girlfriend, testified that Hall had chased Bennett back into his apartment earlier in the day. (T.

80-81). Though it is in dispute, Bennett actually testified that Hall pursued Bennett back to his apartment while brandishing a knife. (T. 130). Bennett also testified that after following him, Hall kicked the door and Bennett's truck after chasing him inside the apartment. (T. 130). There was also further testimony from Bennett to indicate that Hall once again brandished a pocket knife in the moments before the shooting. (T. 136-37).

Under Mississippi law, self-defense is a recognized defense to a charge of aggravated assault. In order to succeed on a claim of self-defense, the defendant must show that the danger to them was either actual, present and urgent or the defendant must have reasonable grounds to apprehend design on the part of the victim to kill or do him some great bodily harm and in addition there must be some imminent danger of the design being accomplished. *Anderson v. State*, 571 So.2d 961, 963 (Miss. 1990). In the case at hand, Bennett testified that there was an actual, present and urgent danger about to befall him. Bennett testified that Hall was approaching him with a knife; clearly he felt that there was clear and present danger. These are also reasonable grounds to apprehend design on the part of the victim to kill or do him some great bodily harm. There was also imminent danger of the "design being accomplished" as they were in close quarters. Bennett testified that he was backed up against the door of his apartment as Hall approached him. (T. 138). Bennett was so afraid of Hall's design being accomplished that he didn't dare turn away from Hall as he approached. Based on this testimony, the jury should have found that Bennett acted in self-defense.

Furthermore, Bennett's actions do not meet the standard of what is not self-defense under Mississippi law. Mississippi courts have found that it is not self-defense if a person provokes a difficulty, arms himself in advance and intends to use his weapon if necessary and overcome his adversary, he is the aggressor and has not acted in self-defense. *Parker v. State*, 401 So.2d 1282,

1286 (Miss. 1981). In this case, Bennett did indeed arm himself when he left his vehicle but he did not attempt to "provoke a difficulty". (T. 135). Indeed, according to Bennett's testimony, he was just trying to walk into his own apartment when Hall approached him with a knife. (T. 136-37). Bennett also testified that he asked Hall to leave him alone because he did not want to return to jail. (T. 137-38). Based on this testimony, it is clear that the jury had no option other than to believe that Bennett was acting in self-defense.

#### iii. Conclusion

Based on the evidence presented at trial, no reasonable jury could have inferred that Bennett was guilty of aggravated assault. There were no unbiased eyewitnesses to the shooting. Bennett was not the aggressor. Hall approached Bennett in a threatening manner earlier in the day. Furthermore, while Bennett was armed, he simply attempted to enter his home when he was cornered by Hall who was approaching him menacingly with a knife. Based on this evidence, the jury was only justified in returning a verdict of not guilty.

### **CONCLUSION**

The Appellant herein submits that based on the propositions cited and briefed hereinabove, together with any plain error noticed by the Court which has not been specifically raised, the judgment of the trial court and the Appellant's conviction and sentence should be reversed and vacated, respectively, and the matter remanded to the lower court for a new trial on the merits of the indictment on one charge of aggravated assault, with instructions to the lower court.