IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLARENCE BENNETT, JR.

,

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-0054

APPELLANT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 10
ARGUMENT
THAT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF
AGGRAVATED ASSAULT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE10
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

•

4

STATE CASES

Prater v. State, 18 So. 3 rd 884, 893 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)	
Price v. State, 892 So.2d 294, 297 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)	

.

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CLARENCE BENNETT, JR.

APPELLANT

vs.

CAUSE No. 2006-KA-00054-COA

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Bolivar County, Second Judicial District, in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felonies of AGGRAVATED ASSAULT and FELON IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Robert Graham, an investigator with the Cleveland police department, testified that he responded to a report of a shooting at East Side Manor Apartments, which were located at the corner Beech and Martin Luther Kings streets in Cleveland, Bolivar County, Second Judicial District, Mississippi, on 6 April 2005. When he arrived there, there were several brother officers present. One of those was speaking with the victim in the case at bar, one Myron Hall, who resided at apartment number twelve. After speaking with Hall, who had injuries to his back, Graham and his fellow officers turned their attention to the Appellant, who resided at apartment number fourteen.

The officers found a 9 millimeter handgun in the Appellant's apartment and a holster. Inside the gun were four unfired bullets. They found a 9 millimeter shell casing just outside the door of the Appellant's apartment. The Appellant himself was found and was placed in a squad car as a crowd of people gathered about.

Graham also spoke with one Bobby Riley, who lived in the vicinity of apartments twelve and fourteen of East Side Manor Apartments.

After Hall was taken away for treatment, Graham gave the Appellant his *Miranda* rights. The Appellant told Hall that he had shot Hall because Hall was approaching him while armed with a knife. The Appellant further stated that there had been a difficulty between Hall and himself earlier in the day, the difficulty apparently having been about a vehicle that the landlord had forced someone, apparently the Appellant, to move. The Appellant became upset about the matter, got into an argument, and was then arrested for disturbing the peace. The Appellant made bond on that charge and returned to his apartment. According to the Appellant, Hall ran at him with a knife, so the Appellant shot at Hall twice. The Appellant admitted to having possession of the gun and told Graham that he had purchased it some two months prior to shooting Hall. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 29 - 61).

Tonya Lewis lived with two children and her boyfriend, Myron Hall, at apartment number 12, East Side Manor Apartments on 6 April 2005. Tonya knew the Appellant because the Appellant was always "picking with [her]".

The Appellant was "picking" with Tonya because the Appellant thought that she had called a Reverend Jackson on him to get the Appellant to move his truck. The Appellant, apparently, had a red truck in a parking space. When Tonya asked the Appellant to move the truck, the Appellant responded in insulting terms. Some how or another, the truck got moved, apparently to the Appellant's great annoyance. The police were summoned and carted the Appellant off, but, alas, not for long.

Tonya and Hall and the children then went somewhere and then returned to the apartments. When they returned, she observed the Appellant standing in a doorway. Tonya and her son went inside their apartment while Hall went to the trunk of the car to get the children's book bags, her daughter following shortly afterwards. Tonya heard some talking and the heard two or three gunshots. Hall then came into their apartment and told her that he had been shot. The police were summoned again.

The police arrived, put the Appellant in the back of a squad car, where he continued his rant about the truck and all while Hall was being treated for injuries to his back. Tanya testified that Hall did not have a weapon just prior to having been shot. Hall possessed no weapon or a thing that might be used as such save a razor he used in cutting hair. That razor, though, was inside the apartment and inside a bag prior to and at the time Hall was shot. Hall was not armed during the first difficulty between the Appellant, Tonya and himself. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 61 - 71).

Officer Stanley Ray "Bo" Brewer testified that he was one of the officers dispatched to East Side Manor apartments on the afternoon of 6 April 2005. When he arrived, there were several people standing about the doorway at apartment number twelve, who reported that Hall had been shot. They also reported that the person who shot Hall was in apartment number fourteen. So Brewer and his fellow officers went to number fourteen, knocked on the door and announced themselves, and when the Appellant opened the door they handcuffed him and stuffed him into a squad car. The officers then looked around the apartment to see if anyone else was within it. While doing so they saw a gun holster lying on a couch. They also saw a shell casing just outside the Appellant's door.

Brewer went on to testify that the police department had been called out to deal with the

Appellant earlier in the day. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 71 - 78).

Myron Lamar Hall was then brought round to give testimony. He said that he lived at East Side Manor apartments and was employed at Parchman Farm and so lived and was so employed on 6 April 2005, the day he was shot by the Appellant

Things began badly when Hall heard the Appellant and Hall's girlfriend arguing outside of the apartment in which Hall and his girlfriend lived. Hall went out to help his damsel in distress and ran after the Appellant. The Appellant ran off to his apartment. This, though, was not to be the end of things.

Later that same day, Hall picked up the children from school. As he was helping one of them, his daughter, into the apartment from the car, the Appellant stuck his head out of his door and said, "If you see that tall man again, tell him I got something for him." Hall responded, "Tell the man I got something right here." At that point, the Appellant stepped out of his apartment and fired several shots at Hall. When the Appellant pulled his gun, Hall turned to run into his apartment. Hall was not armed at the time he was shot, nor was he armed when he ran toward the Appellant during the earlier difficulty. He never threatened the Appellant.

The Appellant was upset with Hall's girlfriend because the Appellant's truck had been towed away.

Hall suffered a "graze wound" to his back and was treated for it and released. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 79 - 94).

One Bobby Riley was then called to testify. She stated that she lived in apartment twenty of the East Side Manor Apartments and that she knew Myron Hall and Tonya Lewis. She knew the Appellant, though not by name. On the day of the shooting, she heard loud talk without her apartment. She saw Hall. She then heard two shots fired and saw Hall run to his apartment. She thought Hall fell down before he got into his apartment. She did not see anything in Hall's hand. Hall was standing by his car when the loud talking began. She did not see who fired the shots. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 94 - 105).

Officer Rhett Nelson had an eventful day on 6 April 2005. He was dispatched to the East Side Manor apartments on that day to quell a disturbance at that place. Upon arriving, he was told that the occupant of apartment fourteen, the Appellant, had been cursing and causing trouble. Nelson went to the Appellant's apartment and knocked on the door. The Appellant, in a bellicose mood and showing distinct signs of being intoxicated, answered the door. He then explained in colorful language that he was upset that the landlord had been told that his truck was broken down. He apparently blamed Hall and Lewis for ratting him out about the truck. He thought that but for the fact that Lewis could not parallel park she would not have told the landlord. The landlord had a policy against having broken down motor vehicles in his parking lot. As the Appellant was explaining his situation to Officer Nelson, he made it a point to yell at people in the area. After several attempts to get the Appellant to guit yelling at people, Nelson arrested the Appellant and charged him with disorderly conduct. On the way to the police station, the Appellant told Nelson that what he, the Appellant, needed to do was to get his gun and shoot Hall and Lewis. The Appellant made motions with his hands at though he were cocking a gun. The Appellant also opined that Lewis needed to be arrested because she could not parallel park.

The Appellant, though, was able to make bond and, as it turned out, cause more trouble.

About an hour afterwards, Nelson and other officers were again sent to the East Side Manor apartments to investigate a report that shots had been fired there. When Nelson arrived, he found a group of people around apartment twelve. The Appellant was not among them. After Hall was seen to, the officers went to the Appellant's apartment, where they were met with a loud "Who is it?" from the occupant therein. The Appellant, still irate, opened the door and was arrested at that point.

Nelson observed a 9 millimeter shell casing outside the Appellant's apartment. When the Appellant was asked where his gun was, the Appellant initially told the officers that he did not have a gun. Then he told them that it was in his truck. The gun was not in the truck. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 105 - 118).

The defense stipulated that the Appellant had been convicted of a felony. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 118),

The Appellant testified on behalf of the defense. He said he lived at apartment fourteen at East Side Manor apartments. He woke on the morning of 6 April 2005 with a "little ol' hangover" and took some pain medication for it. Somehow or another there was a connection between the pain medicine (or perhaps the hangover) with the loss of an index finger.

So he then spent the morning going over some papers he intended to file in Justice Court in consequence of someone having stolen parts from his pick'em up truck. Then he sorted out clothes he intended to give to his aunt's boy. Then he decided to take his garbage out and put his welding gear into his truck.

Now, the problem with getting the garbage out was that he had to pass by Hall's and Lewis' apartment to get to the garbage container. There was bad blood between Hall and Lewis and himself, as the Appellant put it. The Appellant said he did not want a confrontation with Hall. But, as the Appellant put his garbage in the back of his pick'em up truck, Hall was said to have said to him, "You need to go ahead and junk that old piece of junk." The Appellant was offended, we suppose – it was bad enough to have had parts stolen from the truck and then to have it referred to as an old piece of junk – so he told Hall, "Man, you need to go ahead and leave me alone, man. I just want

you to teach your skank ass bitch how to drive her car." Continuing, the Appellant also told Hall, "Why you wasting your time with me? Put your time to some value; teach her how to park."

While all of this was being said, the Appellant claimed he was having trouble stuffing his garbage into his vehicle. According to the Appellant, as he was fussing with his garbage, Hall started cursing him, came toward him, and popped a knife. The Appellant said he was tired, was trying to get his garbage back into his apartment since it would not fit into the vehicle, but Hall was cursing. The Appellant said he just did manage to get back into his apartment. Hall then supposedly kicked the Appellant's door and then kicked the Appellant's motor vehicle. The Appellant said he saw all this by peeking out of a window. Hall supposedly told the Appellant that he was going to cut his bitch ass up and other such things.

The Appellant thought that Hall was a thug, something out of *Boyz N the Hood* or *Menace II*. Hall was said to have favored the wearing of bandanas, caps worn backwards, baggy clothes and saggy pants. So there Hall was, according to the Appellant, raising trouble in the apartment complex, cursing and armed with a knife. The Appellant said he was too scared to go back outside.

A short time later the police showed up, thought not to the Appellant's relief. The officers asked the Appellant what the problem was, and the Appellant told him about his truck and the fact that Lewis couldn't drive worth fifty cents. Nonetheless, the Appellant was arrested and taken to the jail. He said he probably could not have made motions with his hands because he was manacled. Anyhow, the Appellant made bond, the bondsman telling him that he should stay in his apartment. The Appellant agreed to do so.

As soon as the bondman left, the Appellant left his apartment and went to his aunt's house, hoping to find a social security card for himself. The card had not arrived, so, perhaps in consolation, the Appellant went to Cecil's and got a half - pint of Heaven Hill for two dollars. He

7

sat there and drank about half of it and then went back to his apartment.

When the Appellant got back to his apartment, he saw Hall playing with a little girl. The Appellant opened the car door, put heaven's hill in his front pocket, opened the glove compartment and took out his pistol, got out of the car and put the pistol behind himself. The Appellant said he backed up behind the car so he could keep his eye on Hall. The Appellant said the Hall saw him nonetheless and came toward him, popping a knife, talking crazy and cursing and walking "gangster style." The Appellant said he walked toward his door. The Appellant said he told Hall, "I just got out of jail. I don't want to go to jail again, man. Why don't you just leave me alone, man." Hall was said to have responded with profanity.

The Appellant got to his door but said that he was having trouble getting into it, what with having lost an index finger and having to keep an eye on Hall and having to keep his gun hidden. Hall at that point was said to have leaped. The Appellant put a bullet into the gun's chamber and fired at Hall. Hall was at the air conditioning unit for apartment thirteen.

When the Appellant fired at Hall, Hall was said to have twisted and performed something like a ballerina's bow. After the second shot, Hall started shaking and acted as though he was going to fall. His leg was shaking and he was making facial expressions, which led the Appellant to believe that Hall was in pain. The Appellant said he thought he was going to be seriously injured when he fired.

The Appellant then started walking and told Hall, "Get your dog ass out of my way." Hall then began to make his way back to his apartment, holding the wall to keep himself up. The Appellant then went to his apartment. Poor Officer Nelson and his fellow officers showed up about ten minutes later.

The Appellant was not sure what he told the police about the shooting. He said he was

drunk. He was drunk and mad when he shot Hall. He admitted that there were certain aspects of his testimony, particularly the location of Hall when he shot Hall, that he did not tell the police. He may or may not have made motions with his hands when he was being booked for disorderly conduct. But, once again, he stated that he was drunk, so he could not particularly remember. He figured that Hall got shot in the back because Hall was trying to dodge a bullet. He did not think he shot Hall in front of Hall's apartment.

The Appellant admitted that he heard the State's witnesses testify as to Hall's location when the Appellant shot him, but the Appellant assumed they were wrong because he could not see that far. He said he was not a Jesse James or a Wyatt Earp, one of those outlaw shooters who could shoot accurately from a distance. He thought he shot Hall while Hall was "right up at [him]." The Appellant further testified that Lewis was not involved in the second episode with Hall. The Appellant denied having been drunk when law enforcement first paid him a visit, though he did admit that he had been suffering from a bad hangover. He denied having shot Hall when Hall was at or near or going to his apartment. The Appellant maintained that he shot Hall as Hall was rushing toward him while armed with a knife. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 127 - 150; Vol. 3, pp. 151 - 157).

At sentencing, the Appellant told the trial court that he was not attempting to shoot Hall. He was attempting to shoot "a young gangster thug." (R. Vol. 3, pg. 226). The Appellant also claimed that he fired his weapon but "spote" the shells and picked them up after the shooting. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 229)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. WAS THE VERDICT OF GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

THAT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY ON THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT WAS NOT CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE¹

This Court's standard of review when considering whether a trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial is an abuse of discretion standard. In considering a claim that a trial court erred in refusing to grant a new trial on the allegation that the verdict is contrary to the great weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence in support of the verdict. A new trial will not be granted absent a finding that the verdict is so contrary to the great weight of the evidence that to allow the verdict to stand would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Prater v. State*, 18 So.3rd 884, 893 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009).

In the case at bar, there is no question but that the Appellant did shoot Hall. Hall testified that he did so and the Appellant admitted that he did so. The only issues for the jury to resolve were whether the Appellant shot Hall in necessary self - defense or whether the Appellant, drunk and angry and just released from jail, shot at Hall because Lewis told the landlord about the state of the Appellant's car.

Lewis testified that the Appellant was mad with her because she reported his broken - down truck to the landlord. The Appellant somehow figured that her inability to parallel park had something to do with it. The Appellant was sufficiently obnoxious in his comments and demeanor

¹ We do not find that the Appellant brings a challenge to his conviction for having been a felon in possession of a firearm. That being so, we consider it unnecessary to address the evidence in support of that conviction other than to point out that the evidence clearly showed that he was in possession of a firearm and that he was a convicted felon at the time he was in such possession.

that law enforcement had to be summoned to deal with him. The Appellant was then arrested on a charge of disorderly conduct.

On the way to jail, or at the jail, the Appellant told a policeman that he thought he needed to shoot Hall and Lewis. When the Appellant returned to the apartments, that is what he did, at least with respect to Hall.

Hall testified that was not armed at the time he came to the assistance of Lewis and that he was not armed when the Appellant shot him. Hall further testified that he did not threaten the Appellant.

It is true enough that in the trial and prior to sentencing the Appellant claimed that he shot Hall because Hall was advancing on him while armed with a knife. However, this testimony by the Appellant simply created an issue of fact for the jury to resolve. The simple fact that the Appellant claimed – at trial – that the victim menaced him with a knife is no basis to find that the verdict against the Appellant constitutes an unconscionable injustice.

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